2006

Western Water v. Jerry D. Olds : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH SUPREME COURT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(f) & Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(e)(v).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE NO. 1

Does the filing of a Request for Reconsideration to an administrative decision under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-13 continue to keep the administrative process open for changes to original applications where permitted by statute and case law?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court reviews the trial court's grant of summary judgment for correctness and affords no deference to its legal conclusions. *In Re Uintah Basin*, 133 P.3d 410 (Utah 2006); *Green River Canal Company v. Thayn*, 84 P.3d 1134 (Utah 2003); *Bonham v. Morgan*, 788 P.2d 497 (Utah 1989). The Court considers whether the trial court correctly ruled that no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE

This issue was preserved by Opposition (R. 3188) and in oral argument. (R. 3373).

ISSUE NO. 2

Does a timely filed Request for Reconsideration, which includes a modification of an application to appropriate that merely deletes diversion points and parts of the original application project plan, but does not otherwise change or add any areas of service, types

or timing of use, nor add any new diversion points, keep open the administrative process, or does such a request fail to exhaust the applicant's administrative remedies because the applicant filed the modification subsequent to the State Engineer's original decision?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court reviews the trial court's grant of summary judgment for correctness and affords no deference to its legal conclusions. *In Re Uintah Basin*, 133 P.3d 410 (Utah 2006); *Green River Canal Company v. Thayn*, 84 P.3d 1134 (Utah 2003); *Bonham v. Morgan*, 788 P.2d 497 (Utah 1989). The Court considers whether the trial court correctly ruled that no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE

This issue was preserved by Opposition (R. 3188) and in oral argument. (R. 3373).

ISSUE NO. 3

If the State Engineer does not respond to a request for a smaller project plan, lesser amounts of water, and fewer diversion points during the Request for Reconsideration process, does that constitute a rejection of the newly requested lesser amounts for the application?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court reviews the trial court's grant of summary judgment for correctness and affords no deference to its legal conclusions. *In Re Uintah Basin*, 133 P.3d 410 (Utah 2006); *Green River Canal Company v. Thayn*, 84 P.3d 1134 (Utah 2003);

Bonham v. Morgan, 788 P.2d 497 (Utah 1989). The Court considers whether the trial court correctly ruled that no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE

This issue was preserved by Opposition (R. 3188) and in oral argument. (R. 3373).

ISSUE NO. 4

Is a late protester an appropriate party to an action challenging a denial of application of the State Engineer to a water right application, when the State Engineer allows the late protester to participate in the hearing anyway?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court reviews the trial court's grant of summary judgment for correctness and affords no deference to its legal conclusions. *In Re Uintah Basin*, 133 P.3d 410 (Utah 2006); *Green River Canal Company v. Thayn*, 84 P.3d 1134 (Utah 2003); *Bonham v. Morgan*, 788 P.2d 497 (Utah 1989). The Court considers whether the trial court correctly ruled that no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE

This issue was preserved in oral argument (R. 3371).

ISSUE NO. 5

Are protestants to a water right application appropriate parties to argue and present evidence on all requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-8(1) considered by the State

Engineer when approving water right applications or are they appropriate parties only for showing the actual harm they may suffer if the application is granted?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court reviews the trial court's grant of summary judgment for correctness and affords no deference to its legal conclusions. *In Re Uintah Basin*, 133 P.3d 410 (Utah 2006); *Green River Canal Company v. Thayn*, 84 P.3d 1134 (Utah 2003); *Bonham v. Morgan*, 788 P.2d 497 (Utah 1989). The Court considers whether the trial court correctly ruled that no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE

This issue was preserved in oral argument (R. 3372).

ISSUE NO. 6

Are environmental groups which have no water right, no real property affected by a water right application and no real tangible or certifiable injury appropriate parties in a District Court challenge of a State Engineer's decision on a water right application?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court reviews the trial court's grant of summary judgment for correctness and affords no deference to its legal conclusions. *In Re Uintah Basin*, 133 P.3d 410 (Utah 2006); *Green River Canal Company v. Thayn*, 84 P.3d 1134 (Utah 2003); *Bonham v. Morgan*, 788 P.2d 497 (Utah 1989). The Court considers whether the trial court correctly ruled that no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is

entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE

This issue was preserved in oral argument (R. 3372).

ISSUE NO. 7

If a court dismisses a case due to lack of jurisdiction, can it award costs pursuant to Utah statute or rules?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The reason for the trial court's decision with regard to costs is a legal determination which the Court reviews for correctness without deference to the trial court. *State ex rel. R.M.*, 38 P.3d 1006 (Utah 2001).

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE

This issue was preserved in an objection to proposed order (3281).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,

ORDINANCES AND RULES

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-2. Definitions.

(1) As used in this chapter:

(a) "Adjudicative proceeding" means an agency action or proceeding described in Section 63-46b-1.

...
(f) "Party" means the agency or other person commencing an adjudicative proceeding, all respondents, all persons permitted by the presiding officer to intervene in the proceeding, and all persons authorized by statute or agency rule to participate as parties in an adjudicative proceeding.

(g) "Person" means an individual, group of individuals, partnership, corporation, association, political subdivision or its units, governmental subdivision or its units, public or private organization or entity of any

character, or another agency.

...

(i) "Respondent" means a person against whom an adjudicative proceeding is initiated, whether by an agency or any other person.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-13 Agency review -- Reconsideration.

(1) (a) Within 20 days after the date that an order is issued for which review by the agency or by a superior agency under Section 63-46b-12 is unavailable, and if the order would otherwise constitute final agency action, any party may file a written request for reconsideration with the agency, stating the specific grounds upon which relief is requested.

(b) Unless otherwise provided by statute, the filing of the request is not a prerequisite for seeking judicial review of the order.

(2) The request for reconsideration shall be filed with the agency and one copy shall be mailed to each party by the person making the request.

(3) (a) The agency head, or a person designated for that purpose, shall issue a written order granting the request or denying the request.

(b) If the agency head or the person designated for that purpose does not issue an order within 20 days after the filing of the request, the request for reconsideration shall be considered to be denied.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-14 Judicial review -- Exhaustion of administrative remedies.

(1) A party aggrieved may obtain judicial review of final agency action, except in actions where judicial review is expressly prohibited by statute.

(2) A party may seek judicial review only after exhausting all administrative remedies available, except that:

(a) a party seeking judicial review need not exhaust administrative remedies if this chapter or any other statute states that exhaustion is not required;

(b) the court may relieve a party seeking judicial review of the requirement to exhaust any or all administrative remedies if:

(i) the administrative remedies are inadequate; or

(ii) exhaustion of remedies would result in irreparable harm disproportionate to the public benefit derived from requiring exhaustion.

(3) (a) A party shall file a petition for judicial review of final agency action within 30 days after the date that the order constituting the final agency action is issued or is considered to have been issued under Subsection 63-46b-13 (3) (b).

(b) The petition shall name the agency and all other appropriate parties

as respondents and shall meet the form requirements specified in this chapter.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-15 Judicial review -- Informal adjudicative proceedings.

(1) (a) The district courts have jurisdiction to review by trial de novo all final agency actions resulting from informal adjudicative proceedings . . .

...

(2) (a) The petition for judicial review of informal adjudicative proceedings shall be a complaint governed by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and shall include:

- (i) the name and mailing address of the party seeking judicial review;
- (ii) the name and mailing address of the respondent agency;
- (iii) the title and date of the final agency action to be reviewed, together with a copy, summary, or brief description of the agency action;
- (iv) identification of the persons who were parties in the informal adjudicative proceedings that led to the agency action;
- (v) a copy of the written agency order from the informal proceeding;
- (vi) facts demonstrating that the party seeking judicial review is entitled to obtain judicial review;
- (vii) a request for relief, specifying the type and extent of relief requested; and
- (viii) a statement of the reasons why the petitioner is entitled to relief.

(b) All additional pleadings and proceedings in the district court are governed by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

(3) (a) The district court, without a jury, shall determine all questions of fact and law and any constitutional issue presented in the pleadings.

(b) The Utah Rules of Evidence apply in judicial proceedings under this section.

Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-3 Permanent or temporary changes in point of diversion, place of use, or purpose of use.

(1) For purposes of this section:

(a) "Permanent changes" means changes for an indefinite length of time with an intent to relinquish the original point of diversion, place of use, or purpose of use.

...

(2)(a) Any person entitled to the use of water may make permanent or temporary changes in the

- (i) point of diversion;

(ii) place of use; or

(iii) purpose of use for which the water was originally appropriated.

(3) Both permanent and temporary changes of point of diversion, place of use, or purpose of use of water, including water involved in general adjudication or other suits, shall be made in the manner provided in this section.

(4)(a) A change may not be made unless the change application is approved by the state engineer.

...

(5)(a) The State Engineer shall follow the same procedures, and the rights and duties of the applicants with respect to applications for permanent changes of point of diversion place of use, or purpose of use shall be the same, as provided in this title for applications to appropriate water.

...

(9) Any person who changes or who attempts to change a point of diversion, place of use, or purpose of use, either permanently or temporarily, without first applying to the state engineer in the manner provided in this section:

(a) obtains not right; . . .

Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-6 Publication of notice of application --
Corrections or amendments of applications.

(1) (a) When an application is filed in compliance with this title, the state engineer shall publish a notice of the application once a week for a period of two successive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the source of supply is located, and where the water is to be used.

(b) The notice shall:

(i) state that an application has been made; and

(ii) specify where the interested party may obtain additional information relating to the application.

(c) Clerical errors, ambiguities, and mistakes that do not prejudice the rights of others may be corrected by order of the state engineer either before or after the publication of notice.

(2) After publication of notice to water users, the state engineer may authorize amendments or corrections that involve a change of point of diversion, place, or purpose of use of water, only after republication of notice to water users.

Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-7 Protests.

- (1) Any person interested may file a protest with the state engineer:
 - (a) within 20 days after the notice is published, if the adjudicative proceeding is informal; and
 - (b) within 30 days after the notice is published, if the adjudicative proceeding is formal.
- (2) The state engineer shall consider the protest and shall approve or reject the application.

Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-8 Approval or rejection of application -- Requirements for approval -- Application for specified period of time -- Filing of royalty contract for removal of salt or minerals.

(1) It shall be the duty of the state engineer to approve an application if:
(a) there is unappropriated water in the proposed source; (b) the proposed use will not impair existing rights or interfere with the more beneficial use of the water; (c) the proposed plan is physically and economically feasible, unless the application is filed by the United States Bureau of Reclamation, and would not prove detrimental to the public welfare; (d) the applicant has the financial ability to complete the proposed works; and (e) the application was filed in good faith and not for purposes of speculation or monopoly. If the state engineer, because of information in his possession obtained either by his own investigation or otherwise, has reason to believe that an application to appropriate water will interfere with its more beneficial use for irrigation, domestic or culinary, stock watering, power or mining development or manufacturing, or will unreasonably affect public recreation or the natural stream environment, or will prove detrimental to the public welfare, it is his duty to withhold his approval or rejection of the application until he has investigated the matter. If an application does not meet the requirements of this section, it shall be rejected.

...

Utah Code Section § 73-3-14 Judicial review -- State engineer as defendant.

- (1) (a) Any person aggrieved by an order of the state engineer may obtain judicial review by following the procedures and requirements of Title 63, Chapter 46b.
 - (b) Venue for judicial review of informal adjudicative proceedings shall be in the county in which the stream or water source, or some part of it, is located.
- (2) The state engineer shall be joined as a defendant in all suits to review his decisions, but no judgment for costs or expenses of the litigation may be

rendered against him.

Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-16 Proof of appropriation or permanent change --
Notice -- Manner of proof -- Statements -- Maps, profiles, and drawings --
Verification -- Waiver of filing -- Statement in lieu of proof of
appropriation or change.

(1) Sixty days before the date set for the proof of appropriation or proof of change to be made, the state engineer shall notify the applicant by mail when proof of completion of the works and application of the water to a beneficial use will be due.

(2) On or before the date set for completing the proof in accordance with the application, the applicant shall file proof with the state engineer on forms furnished by the state engineer.

(3) Except as provided in Subsection (4), the applicant shall submit the following information:

- (a) a description of the works constructed;
- (b) the quantity of water in acre-feet or the flow in second-feet diverted, or both;
- (c) the method of applying the water to beneficial use; and
- (d) (i) detailed measurements of water put to beneficial use;
(ii) the date the measurements were made; and
(iii) the name of the person making the measurements.

...
(5) The proof on all applications shall be sworn to by the applicant or the applicant's appointed representative and proof engineer.
...

Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-17 Certificate of appropriation -- Evidence.

Upon it being made to appear to the satisfaction of the state engineer that an appropriation or a permanent change of point of diversion, place or nature of use has been perfected in accordance with the application therefor, and that the water appropriated or affected by the change has been put to a beneficial use, as required by Section 73-3-16, he shall issue a certificate, in duplicate, setting forth the name and post-office address of the person by whom the water is used, the quantity of water in acre-feet or the flow in second-feet appropriated, the purpose for which the water is used, the time during which the water is to be used each year, the name of the stream or source of supply from which the water is diverted, the date of the appropriation or change, and such other matter as will fully and completely define the extent and conditions of actual application of the

water to a beneficial use; . . . The certificate shall not extend the rights described in the application. . . . The certificate so issued and filed shall be prima facie evidence of the owner's right to the use of the water in the quantity, for the purpose, at the place, and during the time specified therein, subject to prior rights.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2 Supreme Court Jurisdiction.

. . .
(3) The Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction, including jurisdiction of interlocutory appeals over;

(e) final orders and decrees in formal adjudicative proceedings originating with:

. . .
(v) the state engineer . . .

. . .
(f) final orders and decrees of the district court review of informal adjudicative proceedings of agencies under Subsection (3) e.
. . .

Utah Admin. Code § R655-6-1 Authority and Effective Date.

A. These rules establish and govern the administrative procedures for informal adjudicative proceedings before the Division of Water Rights as required by Section 63-46b-5.

B. These rules govern all informal adjudicative proceedings commenced on or after January 1, 1988. Adjudicative proceedings commenced prior to January 1, 1988, are governed by R655-2.

Utah Admin. Code § R655-6-2 Designation of Informal Proceedings.

All adjudicative proceedings of the Division of Water Rights are hereby designated as informal proceedings and include, but are not limited to, all requests for agency action and notices of agency action concerning applications to appropriate water, change applications, exchange applications, applications to segregate; requests for reinstatement and extension of time; proofs of appropriation and change; applications for extension of time within which to resume use of water and proofs of resumption of use; applications to renovate or replace existing wells; permits and authorizations for dam construction, repair and use; applications and other procedures for utilization of geothermal resources; licenses and other permits for water well drillers; applications for

stream alteration; and other adjudicative proceedings involving water right administration.

Utah Admin. Code § R655-6-3 Definitions.

A. "Adjudicative Proceeding" means a Division action or proceeding that determines the legal rights, duties, privileges, immunities, or other legal interests of one or more identifiable persons, including all Division actions to grant, deny, revoke, suspend, modify, annul, withdraw, or amend the authority, right, or license; and judicial review of all such actions. Those matters not governed by Title 63, Chapter 46b shall not be included within this definition.

B. "Division" means the Division of Water Rights.

C. "State Engineer" is the Director of the Division of Water Rights, which is the agency having general administrative supervision over the waters of the State. The duties of this Division are primarily set forth in Title 73, Chapters 1 through 6.

D. "Staff" means the Division of Water Rights staff.

E. "Person" means an individual, group of individuals, partnership, corporation, association, political subdivision or its units, governmental subdivision or its units, public or private organization or entity of any character, or other agency.

F. "Party" means the Division or other person commencing an adjudicative proceeding, all respondents, all protestants, all persons permitted by the Presiding Officer to intervene in the proceeding, and all persons authorized by statute or agency rule to participate as parties in an adjudicative proceeding.

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