2006

Western Water, L.L.C. v. Jerry D. Olds : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

State Engineer *could have taken such action*, Western argues, he took action by effectively denying the request. (*Id.*) The District Court did not address whether the State Engineer *could have acted* on the RCP, holding only that he took no action and, therefore, the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to review the RCP. (R. 3373 at 69:16-24.)

The District Court correctly determined it lacked jurisdiction to consider the RCP because the State Engineer took no final agency action on it. (R. 3373 at 69.) He lacked authority to do so because Western never submitted the RCP as an application, as Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-1 requires. The statute provides that, “[n]o appropriation of water may be made . . . *except application for such appropriation first be made to the state engineer in the manner herein after provided, and not otherwise.*” Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-1 (emphasis supplied). Because Western never filed the RCP as an application, the plan was not noticed for hearing, presented for protest, heard by the State Engineer, or otherwise processed, and the State Engineer, therefore, could not have and did not take final agency action on it.

A. A Person Must Comply with the Process Outlined in Title 73, Chapter 3 of the Utah Code to Appropriate Water in Utah.

The only way to appropriate water in Utah is to follow the procedural and substantive requirements of Title 73, Chapter 3 of the Utah Code. Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-1; *Mosby Irr. Co. v. Criddle*, 354 P.2d 848, 852 (Utah 1960) (“Chapter 3 of Title 73, U.C.A. 1953, prescribes the exclusive manner in which [the right to use water] can be initiated, the conditions upon which such right can be acquired, and the procedural requirements which must be complied with.”); *Hanson v. Salt Lake City*, 205 P.2d 255, 260 (Utah 1949) (“[N]o

right to the use of the unappropriated waters of this state can be acquired without complying with the statutory requirements.”). See 3 Wells A. Hutchins, *Water Rights Laws in Nineteen Western States* 542 (U.S. Dept. Agric. 1977) (hereinafter “Hutchins”) (excerpt attached as Addendum 7). Before the State Engineer may approve an application, the appropriation statutes require: (i) the applicant to submit on a State Engineer’s form an application containing substantive information; (ii) the State Engineer to take required procedural steps; and (iii) the applicant to demonstrate a reason to believe the application meets the Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-8 requirements. Only after the applicant and State Engineer follow these steps may the State Engineer take final agency action on the application. Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-1. A person seeking judicial review of the State Engineer’s decision on an application must first obtain final agency action on that application. *Id.* §§ 63-46b-14, 73-3-14.

1. A Person Seeking to Appropriate Water Must “Make an Application in a Form Prescribed by the State Engineer.”

To initiate the administrative process to appropriate water, an applicant must “file”⁸ an application on a “form prescribed by the [S]tate [E]ngineer,” containing the substantive information the statute requires.⁹ Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-2 (West 2004); see Hutchins, at 543 (“Filing the application is an essential preliminary step.”). Utah statutes provide:

⁸ An application is “filed” on the date when it “was acceptably completed in form and substance and filed in” the State Engineer’s office. Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-4 (West 2004).

⁹ An application, along with all of the other requirements, must also show it will put water to a beneficial use. Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-3.

“No appropriation of water may be made . . . except application for such appropriation first be made to the [S]tate [E]ngineer in the manner hereinafter provided, *and not otherwise.*” Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-1 (emphasis supplied).

“The application shall be upon a form to be furnished by the [S]tate [E]ngineer and shall set forth” specific substantive elements. *Id.* § 73-3-2(1)(a).

“On receipt of each application *containing the information required by Section 73-3-2*, . . . it shall be the duty of the [S]tate [E]ngineer . . . to make a record of such receipt for that purpose.” *Id.* § 73-3-5(1) (emphasis supplied).

“When an application is filed *in compliance with this title*, the [S]tate [E]ngineer *shall* publish a notice.” *Id.* § 73-3-6(1)(a) (emphasis supplied).

“After publication of notice to water users, the [S]tate [E]ngineer may authorize amendments or corrections that involve a change of point of diversion, place, or purpose of use of water, *only after republication of notice to water users.*” *Id.* § 73-3-6(2) (emphasis supplied).

These statutes illustrate the mandatory requirement that the appropriation process be initiated by an application “containing the information required by Section 73-3-2,” *id.* § 73-3-5(1), and filed “in compliance with [Title 73].” *id.* § 73-3-6(1)(a).

Substantively, an applicant must set forth information including, but not limited to, the nature of the proposed use, the time when the water will be used, the name of the stream or water source, the dimensions and nature of the diverting channel, and “other facts that *clearly define the full purpose* of the proposed appropriation.” *Id.* § 73-3-2(1)(b)(i)-(viii) (emphasis supplied). If the application is for irrigation, the statute requires more information, such as the character of the soil and the legal subdivisions of the irrigated land. *Id.* § 73-3-2(2). Without a complete application, the State Engineer has no authority to begin the procedural process of making a decision on an application. *See id.* §§ 73-3-1, 73-3-2(1)(a),

73-3-5(1), 73-3-6(1)(a).

2. Both the Applicant and the State Engineer Must Follow the Procedural Requirements of Chapter 3 of Title 73 of the Utah Code.

Once the State Engineer receives a completed application, he follows a statutory process to prepare to make a decision on the application. First, he “make[s] an endorsement” and “a record of . . . receipt.” *Id.* § 73-3-5(1). “All applications which shall comply with the provisions of this chapter and with the regulations of the [S]tate [E]ngineer shall be filed and recorded.” *Id.* § 73-3-5(3). Thereafter, he “shall publish a notice of the application.” *Id.* § 73-3-6(1)(a). After publication, the State Engineer may only correct “clerical errors, ambiguities, and mistakes that do not prejudice the rights of others” without republication. *Id.* § 73-3-6(1)(c). If an applicant wishes to change a “point of diversion, place, or purpose of use of water,” the State Engineer must republish the application. *Id.* § 73-3-6(2). Once the application has been published and/or republished, “[a]ny person interested may file a protest with the [S]tate [E]ngineer” for up to twenty days after publication. *Id.* § 73-3-7(1)(a). “The [S]tate [E]ngineer shall consider the protest[s] and shall approve or reject the application.” *Id.* § 73-3-7(2).

The State Engineer must strictly follow the statute’s step-by-step process. *Id.* § 73-3-1. The State Engineer has no authority to rule on an application otherwise. *Id.*; see *Baugh*, 431 P.2d at 791 (“more and more it becomes quite obvious that development of water must require strict adherence to statutory sanctions, without delay or non-conformance thereto .

..."); *see also Mosby Irr. Co.*, 354 P.2d at 852 (holding State Engineer lacked authority to reinstate original priority date where application lapsed without State Engineer mistake or fraud).

3. Once a Complete Application is Filed, Published, Presented for Protest, and Considered, the State Engineer Analyzes the Application Under Section 73-3-8.

Where an application has been properly submitted and processed, the State Engineer analyzes it under the section 73-3-8 criteria, which provide:

It shall be the duty of the [S]tate [E]ngineer to approve an application if: (a) there is unappropriated water in the proposed source; (b) the proposed use will not impair existing rights or interfere with the more beneficial use of the water; (c) the proposed plan is physically and economically feasible, unless the application is filed by the United States Bureau of Reclamation, and would not prove detrimental to the public welfare; (d) the applicant has the financial ability to complete the proposed works; and (e) the application was filed in good faith and not for purposes of speculation or monopoly. . . . If an application does not meet the requirements of this section, it shall be rejected.

Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-8(1).

An applicant bears the burden to produce evidence to persuade the State Engineer there is reason to believe the application meets all section 73-3-8 requirements. *Searle v. Milburn Irr. Co.*, 2006 UT 16, ¶¶ 49-54, 133 P.3d 382, 394-95. If the applicant fails to meet its burden of persuasion, the application “shall be rejected.” Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-8. *See Searle*, 2006 UT 16, ¶ 53, 133 P.3d at 395.

4. Final Agency Action is a Prerequisite for Judicial Review.

For final agency action to be taken on an application, the State Engineer must make

a decision on the merits of the application. *See Union Pac. R. Co. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 2000 UT 40, ¶ 16, 999 P.2d 17, 21 (holding agency action final if: (a) “judicial review will not disrupt the orderly process of” the administrative decision making process; (b) “rights or obligations [have] been determined” or “legal consequences [will] flow from the agency action;” and (c) “agency action, in whole or in part, [is] not preliminary, preparatory, procedural, or intermediate with regard to subsequent agency action”). Only *after* the State Engineer takes final action on the application may an aggrieved party seek judicial review. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14(1)(a) (“Any person aggrieved by an *order of the state engineer* may obtain judicial review”) (emphasis supplied); *id.* § 63-46b-14(1) (“A party aggrieved may obtain judicial review of final agency action”).

A party cannot seek judicial review of a decision on an application to appropriate before the State Engineer takes final agency action. *Id.* § 63-46b-14(2) (“[a] party may seek judicial review only after exhausting all administrative remedies available” unless exhaustion not required by statute, administrative remedies inadequate, or exhaustion would cause irreparable harm). Thus, because the State Engineer may only take final agency action on an application properly filed, published, and presented for protest, the district court only has subject matter jurisdiction to review an application properly filed, published, presented for protest, and either approved or rejected.

B. Western Water Failed to File the RCP as an Application and Therefore, the State Engineer had No Authority to Make a Decision upon the RCP.

Western failed to comply with the procedural and substantive requirements of the

Appropriation Statute, Utah Code Ann. § 73-3, because (i) Western did not submit it on a State Engineer form or provide the substantive information the statute requires; (ii) the State Engineer never took required procedural steps; (iii) if Western had filed the RCP as an application, it would have failed to meet section 73-3-8 requirements; and (iv) because Western never triggered the administrative process and the State Engineer never took action on the RCP, the District Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to review it.

1. Western Water Failed to File the RCP on a “Form Prescribed by the State Engineer.”

Western never filed the RCP on an appropriate form, or provided the substantive information the statute requires. To acquire a water right in Utah, a person “shall make an application in a form prescribed by the [S]tate [E]ngineer” and provide the substantive information the statute requests. *Id.* § 73-3-2. Western failed to do so.

First, Western submitted the RCP in a three-page narrative in its request for reconsideration (R. 2219, 2227-2230), failing to meet the threshold requirement of submitting an application on “a form prescribed by the [S]tate [E]ngineer.” Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-2(1)(a).

Second, Western included none of the substantive information section 73-3-2 requires. While the RCP states Western will take water from Salt Lake Valley shallow groundwater wells and Utah Lake, it specifies no points of diversion, no diversion amounts, no stream from which the water would be diverted, and no other facts to “*clearly define* the full purpose of the proposed appropriation.” *Id.* § 73-3-2(1)(b)(viii) (emphasis supplied). Instead, the

RCP describes only what Western will not do. Even at that, the RCP is indefinite, indicating Western will only construct “those recovery wells necessary” (R. 2228) and the ground water storage plan “will be built only when there is sufficient demand in Cedar Valley to warrant its construction” (R. 2229). Western’s RCP description fails almost every substantive application requirement.

2. Because Western Water Never Filed an Application, the State Engineer Never Examined, Published, or Made a Decision on the RCP.

Because Western failed to submit the RCP on “a form prescribed by the [S]tate [E]ngineer” containing necessary substantive information, the State Engineer had no authority to proceed as if the RCP were an application. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-1. The State Engineer never examined, published, received protests with respect to, or held a hearing or made a decision on the RCP. Thus, the RCP failed to meet the requirements of the statute to be properly presented to the State Engineer for decision.

Lack of publication of the RCP prohibited the state entities which join in this brief (other than the State Engineer) from having the opportunity to protest the RCP. Publication allows impacted water users the chance to inform the State Engineer of their concerns about an application and otherwise provide the State Engineer input concerning it. *See Longley v. Leucadia Fin. Corp.*, 2000 UT 69, ¶¶ 19-22, 9 P.3d 762, 766-67.

3. Even If Western Water Had Filed the RCP as an Application, Western Water Failed to Demonstrate that It Would Meet the Elements of Section 73-3-8 Under Any Circumstances.

While the District Court made no finding with respect to Western's compliance, or lack thereof, with section 73-3-8, and while no such finding is needed for this Court to uphold the District Court's dismissal, this Court should understand that even if the RCP had been filed as an application, the possibility of it meeting the section 73-3-8 requirements is especially remote. For example, in his Memorandum Decision (R. 1580-99), the State Engineer found Western failed to demonstrate the first requirement of the statute—there is unappropriated water in the proposed source—finding instead, “that all of the waters within the Utah and Salt Lake Valleys are fully appropriated by prior rights.” (R. 1591.) “[B]eneficial use shall be the basis, the measure and the limit of all rights to the use of water” in Utah. Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-3. But, the State Engineer found that Western had “no beneficial use for the water other than selling it to others.” (R. 2214.) The same is true of the RCP. (R. 2227-30.) Even if the sale of water were a beneficial use, the State Engineer found that Western lacked any contracts or customers to demonstrate such a beneficial use could occur. (R. 2213.) Moreover, because it also lacks lands or any other facilities, Western has yet to demonstrate it could put any water to beneficial use. While Western hoped to sell water to people who might have beneficial uses, Western submitted nothing to indicate such plans could be implemented. (R. 2213-14.) Neither the availability of water nor the lack of a beneficial use for that water could possibly change regardless of the RCP's size.

4. The District Court Lacked Jurisdiction to Review the RCP Because Western Water Failed to Initiate the Administrative Process, Let Alone Exhaust Administrative Remedies, as Required by Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-14.

Western's attempt to obtain administrative approval of its RCP failed to exhaust administrative remedies, as required by Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-14(2), and failed to obtain final agency action, as required by section 63-46b-14(1). Both failure to exhaust administrative remedies and failure to obtain final agency action deprive a reviewing court of subject matter jurisdiction. *Kuntz & Co. v. State*, 913 P.2d 765, 771 (Utah 1996) (exhaustion); *Thomas v. Color Country Mgmt.*, 2004 UT 12, ¶¶ 14-15, 84 P.3d 1201, 1206 (finality). Western never commenced the administrative process by filing an application consistent with the RCP's parameters. Thus, the State Engineer lacked authority to consider the RCP, and administrative remedies could not be exhausted. Because the State Engineer never reached a decision on the merits of the RCP, there has been no final agency action and the District Court properly concluded it lacked jurisdiction to consider the RCP. (R. 3291-93.)

II. Even if Western Water's RCP had been Presented in Application Form, the State Engineer Had no Authority to Consider a New or Substantially Modified Application Presented for the First Time in a Request for Reconsideration.

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